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1. Name of Property___________ _____________________________________________________

historic name Straight University Boarding House and Dining Hall 

other names/site number

2. Location
street & number 1423 N. Claiborne Ave NA not for publication

city or town New Orleans
NA

vicinity

state Louisiana code county Orleans code 071 zip code 70116

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,
I hereby certify that this X nomination__ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
In my opinion, the property X meets___does not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property
be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance;

Statewide X local

/- /V-//____Sib^re of certifyihg offi^ I Date

State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria.

Signature of commenting official Date

Title state or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

4. National Mrk Service Certification
I hereby certjly that this property is:

_J^ntered in the National Register

__determined not eligible for the National Register

other (exDftkjn:)

. determined eligible for the National Register 

. removed from the National Register

Date of Action
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply.)

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contri buti ng Noncontributing
X private X building(s) 1 1 buildings

public - Local district sites
public - State site structures
public - Federal structure objects

object 1 1 Total

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

N/A

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

DOMESTIC/lnstitutional Housing

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling

7. Description
Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

Greek Revival; Italianate

Number of contributing resources previously 
listed in the National Register

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

VACANT/NOT IN USE

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation: Brick

walls: Weatherboard

roof: Asphalt

other: Cast Iron
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over two walk through wood windows with their intact surrounds. Above the second gallery are an architrave, frieze, and 
cornice. Just below the cornice are sets of paired brackets and dentils. The parapet is broken up into three sections with 
the central section having a segmental arch. Molding outlines each individual piece.

The Esplanade side elevation consists of the main house with a rear ell. The foundation of the main house consists of a 
brick chain wall. Above that is wood weather board siding that covers the entire elevation. The Esplanade elevation has 8 
original openings: seven six over six double hung wood windows with one six over six double hung walk through wood 
window. Each of the windows has its original wood molding. The original roof was slate with three brick chimneys that 
pierce the roof. The ell has a lower brick chain wall with wood weather boards above. The rear ell has a cantilevered 
gallery on the second floor. It has wood rectangular boxed columns with a wooden balustrade. The ell gallery stands at a 
slightly lower level than that of the main block’s rear upper gallery, and a wooden curved staircase connects the two gallery 
areas (see floor plan attached). The windows in the ell are six over six double hung wood windows. The doors in the ell are 
four panel solid wood doors with three light transoms above. Both the windows and doors have intact wood surrounds.

The rear elevation foundation is a brick chain wall with wood weather boards above. The rear has two over two double 
hung wood windows with a metal shed roof on the ell. No chimneys pierce the roof.

The Kerlerec Street side elevation also consists of main house and rear ell. Both sections’ foundation consists of the brick 
chain wall with wood weather board siding throughout. The windows on this side are varied. There is an original pair of 
stained glass windows in stepped window configuration. The stained glass windows’ sashes consist of modified pointed 
arch lights over a one light sash. Other windows on the main house include six over six double hung wood windows.
There are also six over two double hung wood windows, two over two double hung wood windows, two small three-light 
windows, and an eight light paired casement window. On the main house there is a hipped roof that was once slate and 
the ell once had a metal shed roof (now lost).

The interior of the house follows a traditional side hall form with a staircase running along one side of the house with room 
after room on the other side. This floor plan can be seen in the main portion of the house with very few changes to its form. 
The main house has intact plaster walls; a plaster ceiling medallion; and wood molding including base, picture rail, door, 
and window. The walls of the structure are composed of wood framing throughout. On the interior the stud frame 
construction is obscured by original plaster. There are no obvious areas of damage to the wall structure in the main 
house. The house even includes Greek key door surrounds, in what were the formal rooms of the house. The main house 
also has three intact wood mantels. Two of mantels are identical in design and feature Doric pilasters on either side with a 
simple molding below the mantel shelf. The other mantel is the same in decoration, but has thinner Doric pilasters. There 
are several original four panel solid, wood, interior doors. There are also hard wood floors throughout the house that were 
revealed after the removal of asbestos floor tiles, a material added later. One major alteration to the main house is the 
enclosure of the rear double gallery within the interior. However, many of the rear double gallery features remain intact, 
including four six over six double hung walk through windows, two exterior wood panel doors, and the original wood 
columns, which are large scale rectangular Doric pillars.

The interior of the rear ell has been altered by having a hallway built between the ell and the main house. This can be seen 
in the existing floor plan provided. In its original form the ell would have only been accessible from the exterior or from the 
rear double gallery by a curved staircase on the second floor, which is still intact. There is some stud frame damage in 
this portion of the house due to water damage from the damaged roof before it was repaired. The interior of the rear ell 
features original wood base, picture rail, door, and window surrounds, and one wood mantel, with the thin Doric pilasters 
decoration described earlier.

When the building was purchased in 2008 the front gallery structure was buckling and required immediate support. It was 
stabilized in 2009. The roof had a great deal of damage as exhibited by the large amount of plant growth on the roof and 
buckling of the roof line. There was significant damage where the roof was hipped in the front. This was exhibited as 
damage to the plaster ceilings and lathe in the second room towards the front of the house. The roof was repaired in 2009 
with new architectural grade asphalt shingles and had its original hipped roof form diligently maintained. Rear ell side 
doors are missing and one has been replaced by a metal security door, but the original door remains intact and has been 
placed inside the building. Two of the original six over six double hung wood windows on the Esplanade side elevation 
have lost their sashes and have been replaced with aluminum sashes. Many windows of the building are currently fitted 
with metal security bars. Six Corinthian columns remain intact with three column capitals in place, and two cast iron 
railings on the gallery remain intact and in good condition; all have been taken down and stored to be reinstalled on the
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building. On the site there were three late, era not confirmed, shed buildings. Two were made of concrete masonry unit 
block and the other was T1-11 plywood. These sheds were constructed directly in front of the first floor of the rear ell. They 
were demolished in 2009 to gain access the rear ell. The removal of the sheds revealed that a part of the rear ell on the 
first floor had been repaired with concrete masonry unit bldck.

Though the building seems in poor condition from the street, further inspection reveals many features that are original to 
the building and in repairable condition. Important architectural details remain intact, including columns, brackets and 
quoins on the exterior and wood mantels, door, and a plaster ceiling medallion on the interior. Most of the architectural 
details remain intact. Damaged features will be repaired when possible using historic materials and appropriate building 
techniques. The original roof was recently replaced and the front gallery stabilized in order to prevent further decay. Years 
of neglect have taken a toll on both the interior and exterior of the building, but the house remains intact, stable, and 
eligible for the National Register of Historic Place.

Non-Contributing Element

There is an accessory structure located in the rear of the site. The shed is composed entirely of concrete masonry blocks 
and it is approximately 80 square feet. It has one door opening and one window opening. Neither the door or window are 
present. The metal shed roof has deteriorated due to years of neglect. This shed is not original to the site and is not 
contributing to the property’s historic significance.

NOTE: The additional shed visible in front of a white vehicle in the photo of the boarding house’s rear elevation is outside 
the boundaries and not a part of this nomination.
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Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 
for National Register listing.)

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)

ETHNIC HERITAGE/Black
A Property is associated with events that have made a 

significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history.

EDUCATION

Period of Significance

1871-1877

Significant Dates

1871

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is: NA

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 

NA_____________________ _______

Cultural Affiliation

NA

Architect/Buiider

Unknown

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D a cemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

F a commemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance 
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

The period of significance (1871-1877) is based upon the opening and closing date of the period in which the candidate 
served as a part of Straight University.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)
Does not apply
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and 
applicable criteria.)

The Straight University Boarding House and Dining Hall is locally significant under Criterion A: Event, in the areas of Ethic- 
Heritage: Black, and Education because it is the last remaining site of the original Campus of Straight University, which 
was one of the first African American Universities in the state of Louisiana that made important strides in the early civil 
rights movement and African American education. The period of Significance spans from 1871 to 1877, which are the 
years that the University’s Boarding House operated out of the building.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

“The Straight University Boarding House and Dining Hall” - at 1423 N. Claiborne Avenue - is located at the edge 
of the historic Trem6 neighborhood, which is part of the Esplanade Ridge Historic District in New Orleans, Louisiana. This 
neighborhood was established in 1810 after a rapid expansion in the city’s population occurred due to the Haitian 
Revolution. Many immigrants from San Domingo came to New Orleans to escape the Revolution. They began to settle in 
an area just north of the Vieux Carr6 (New Orleans’ French Quarter).

Trem6, the portion of the Esplanade Ridge Historic District in which the candidate is located, is home to one of the 
first working-class African American neighborhoods in the country. Initially, the area consisted of plantation land that was 
later divided into lots and streets by real-estate developer Claude Trem§. The city of New Orleans purchased the 40 acre 
area from Trem6 in 1810 thus making it part of the City\ Many diverse cultures inhabited the Trem6 neighborhood. By the 
mid-nineteenth century, it was the epicenter of African-American culture in New Orleans. Many free African Americans 
who lived and fought to oppose slavery and race laws resided in Trem6. Many of the men established schools and 
religious institutions for people of color. In the twentieth century, Trem6 emerged as the birthplace of jazz, home of the 
city’s social aid and pleasure clubs, and traditional second-line parades. Unfortunately, the once-thriving political activism 
of the Trem6 community faltered. During the twentieth century, this neighborhood was subjected to more demolitions than 
any other part of the city. The demolitions were a result of urban renewal efforts of the 1940s and the development of the 
elevated 1-10 Expressway above the North Claiborne Corridor in the1950s and 60s. The Straight University Boarding 
House reflects the decline of the neighborhood: once a grand and ornate structure, it now sits in disrepair at the edge of 
the expressway which divided and altered its neighborhood so dramatically.

At the end of the Civil War, New Orleans proved fertile ground for experiments in race relations. Some individuals 
in the City supported Union control, but because the City fell somewhat early and avoided hosting any major battles, many 
residents remained steadfast in their Confederate ideals^. Nonetheless, in 1864, Louisiana contracted a new constitution 
abolishing slavery - the first of its kind and a test case for other southern states. However, the constitution did not include 
language to support suffrage for African Americans.

The Bureau of Refugees, Freedmen and Abandoned lands, commonly called the Freedmen’s Bureau, was 
established in March 1865 by the United States Congress to assist in the transition of freed African Americans into society. 
Largely through the efforts of the Freedmen’s Bureau, local Civil Right leaders emerged to defend the rights of the city’s 
black residents. Initially, their cause was voting rights for African Americans who were free before the war, served in the 
military or owned property. However, throughout the 1860s, their goals expanded to include universal male suffrage, 
education and other civil rights^.

The issue of African American education was central in Reconstruction politics in the South, and nowhere was the 
issue more prevalent than in New Orleans. Civil Rights leaders had already fought hard and successfully for emancipation 
and enfranchisement, in order to gain social, economic and political rights. They were ready to fight hard for equal 
education. Under Union control, public schools had briefly been required to integrate and African American children 
received education from private. Catholic and parochial school. These students had proven that they were just as capable 
as their white counterparts in the classroom“.

Mayor John T. Monroe (1860-62 and 1866-67) abolished the Unionist school system in New Orleans and by the 
mid-1860s, freed blacks were not legally allowed to attend tax-funded schools®. However, a state constitution adopted in 
1868, largely drafted by enfranchised African Americans and radical Republicans, required that public schools be
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established without segregation by race. Though there was some initial resistance, by the 1870s, many schools in the city 
were considered to be desegregated.

In addition to the federally established Freedmen’s Bureau, several privately run organizations maintained a 
presence in New Orleans in support of African American Civil Rights. Among them was the American Missionary 
Association (AMA), founded in 1846® as an abolitionist organization in Syracuse, NY. This national organization focused on 
social justice for immigrants. Native Americans, and African Americans.

Attracted by the state’s large black population and the political awareness of African Americans in New Orleans, 
the American Missionary Association began sending representatives to Louisiana in 1864^. Seymour Straight, a 
businessman from Cincinnati, Ohio, and friend of the AMA, wrote in 1863 of his concerns that no missionaries were in 
New Orleans to promote the welfare of the African American community. Pointing to conditions of overcrowding, 
starvation, disease and disorder, he encouraged the AMA to send missionaries to New Orleans®. The AMA’s focus on 
African American education was threefold: “first, to develop their own leaders; second to provide a literate black citizenry; 
and third, to plant and nurture Christian values in the black South’’®. Two leaders emerged in the AMA who would shape 
the organization’s future role in New Orleans: Seymour Straight and the Revered J. W. Healy, who had come down to New 
Orleans from Chicago as a Congregationalist preacher. The two would join forces and establish one of the first 
universities for African Americans in the state.

The 1868 State Constitution was a catalyst for the founding of many African American private universities. The 
first three African American Universities in Louisiana were founded in New Orleans in the same year, 1869: Leland 
University; Union Normal School, later called New Orleans University; and Straight University^®. Leland University closed 
shortly after opening due to insufficient funding in 1880" and its Lower Garden District building was later demolished. New 
Orleans University eventually merged with Straight University in the 1930s to become Dillard University^^, which is still 
active today. The original campus of New Orleans University, located uptown, at St. Charles and Jefferson Avenues was 
demolished in 1949^ . The main campus of Straight University burned down in 1877^'*. Only the boarding house and 
dining hall, located at 1423 North Claiborne Avenue, survived. It is currently the only remaining building of these three 
original African American universities.

Named for Seymour Straight, the university’s most prominent benefactor. Straight University was founded with the 
goal of providing higher education for the freedmen of New Orleans^®. The school offered such professional programs as 
Liberal Arts, Mathematics, Theology, Medicine, and Law. The first classes offered at Straight University in 1869 took place 
in a church. But, by 1871 Seymour Straight had purchased land and erected a school building at the corner of Esplanade 
Avenue and North Derbigny Street. This site was considered an ideal location according to an American Missionary 
Association Report which stated that “the [university] was located in a quiet and beautiful part of city, fronting on a shady 
street, which resembles the boulevards of Paris’’^®.

In its first year Straight University was hailed as “the most successful institution for higher education among 
Negroes in New Orleans.” Straight’s standards were high. Students had to pass a rigorous examination that tested them 
in “the grammar of Latin and Greek languages, Virgil, Cicero, Salust or Caesar,... Homer’s Iliad,... Algebra and Ancient 
History.”^^ Straight University began strong with 1,054^® students in the first year, a significantly greater number of students 
than other African American universities of its time in New Orleans. The successes of the first year encouraged faculty and 
leaders of the school to focus on expansion. In 1871 Straight University President Joseph W. Healy, according to his 
personal letters, began to search for additional properties into which the school could expand.

In April of 1871, only fourteen months after the main campus of Straight University was opened, 1423 North 
Claiborne Avenue was purchased by the American Missionary Association of New York. Originally known as 315 
Claiborne Avenue, the house was built between 1866 and 1871 by an Elise Bienvenue, wife of Pierre Fredrick Thomas’®. 
According to the title transferred on April 18, 1871 Rev. Joseph W. Healy, the first president of Straight University^, signed 
the title for the property on behalf of the American Missionary Association^’ and as early as 1871 professors were taking 
up residence in the house. 1423 North Claiborne Avenue may have been chosen as an extension of the university 
because it was within the same block as the university’s main building^^. J. F. Fuller, Professor of Mathematics and 
Principal of the Elementary Department; Rev. Charles H. Thompson, Professor of Biblical Theology and Literature and 
Preacher to the University; James A. Adams, principal of Straight University; and J. Melville McPherron, Professor of 
Mathematics, all resided in 1423 North Claiborne Avenue. The house continued as faculty housing until 1874 when it 
expanded to serve as a student dormitory and faculty-student dining halP. According to the city directory the building was 
used for faculty housing until a fire destroyed the main building ini877^^.
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The early years at Straight University were formative for the Civil Rights Movement during reconstruction. The 
university served as an intellectual center for many newly freed Africans Americans in New Orleans, playing host to many 
nationally significant African American lecturers. The events that surrounded Straight University attracted visible attention 
during its first years from significant advocates of the early Civil Rights movement. This may have ultimately led to the 
burning down of the main campus of Straight University in 1877 in a case believed to be arson^®. The boarding house at 
1423 North Claiborne Avenue was the only building to survive.

After the fire, school officials opened a new campus on Canal Street and eventually joined with New Orleans 
University to form Dillard University^® and develop a new campus in New Orleans’ historic Gentilly Neighborhood.

Historical Note

The former boarding house was sold to a family man and remained a private residence on prosperous North 
Claiborne Avenue for much of the twentieth century. Until the 1960s, the north end of Claiborne was a main street for 
African American residents of Trem6, filled with endless commercial ventures and grand homes. The shopping corridor 
was established as a counterpart to Canal Street, which catered to the shopping needs of mostly white, affluent New 
Orleanians. As one of the main corridors in Faubourg Trem6, it also served as a meeting ground for community residents.

Unfortunately, North Claiborne Avenue and Faubourg Trem6 were subjected to many demolitions throughout the 
mid-20"’ century in the name of Urban Renewal. Yet, for this neighborhood, the most destructive force of the twentieth 
century was the development of an elevated expressway in the 1960s over the former North Claiborne Boulevard. The I- 
10 expressway essentially divided the neighborhood in half and radically altered both the scale and character of the 
neighborhood. Unlike days past, the largely African American community was unable to garner much needed political 
support to stop development of the project. Nearly 500 homes were demolished^^, leaving many of the remaining homes, 
including 1423 North Claiborne Avenue, alienated from their neighbors. Many business owners and residents have 
abandoned the area, leaving behind an abundance of vacant property surrounded by concrete and heavy traffic.

Though the neighborhood has seen some reinvestment in recent years, those properties closest to the 
expressway generally remain abandoned. Several of them face the threat of demolition by neglect. In 2008, Operation 
Comeback, a program of the Preservation Resource Center of New Orleans, purchased the dilapidated property at 1423 
North Claiborne Avenue, which was listed for demolition by the New Orleans Redevelopment Authority. The house had 
suffered from wind damage to the roof due to Hurricane Katrina and severe deterioration from years of deferred 
maintenance. Operation Comeback, which “promotes the purchase and renovation of vacant historic properties”, took on 
the task of historically rehabilitating the property with a goal of inspiring increased private development along the formerly 
grand boulevard. As local support for the removal of the expressway grows. Operation Comeback hopes to be at the 
forefront of the redevelopment of the boulevard.

In 2009, in partnership with The Prince of Wales' Foundation for the Built Environment, Delgado Community 
College and the Louisiana Carpenters Union, The Preservation Resource Center launched the Prince's Rebuilding 
Communities Program, an apprenticeship program dedicated to the traditional building crafts. In September, 2010,16 new 
apprentices joined the program for its second year. After a three-week intensive classroom training, the apprentices were 
divided up into their respective crafts: brick masonry, iron work, plaster, rough carpentry and mill work, and begsn working 
on-site at 1423 North Claiborne for seven months. 1423 North Claiborne is the centerpiece of the program, as it 
incorporates all five trades and will potentially serve as a centerpiece of the neighborhood and a catalyst for reinvestment 
along the North Claiborne corridor. In the program's inaugural year, students removed most of the drop ceilings on the 
building's interior, exposing an ornamental plaster ceiling medallion and crown moldings. Windows were removed and 
taken off-site for repair and replication. Some masonry work was also completed on the brick piers and iron work students 
studied the ornamental railings for repairs and replication.

This year, apprentices will be placed on site to complete more work and bring the house closer to a state of 
completion. Plasterers will continue replicating medallions and make repairs to plaster walls. Iron workers will continue 
fabrication of exterior iron work. Mill workers will continue repair and replacement of trim, windows and doors. Rough 
carpenters will work to stabilize the building through framing repairs, sill and joist repairs and repair and replacement of 
flooring throughout the building's interior. Brick masons will repair chimneys. All work will be done implementing 
traditional building techniques to preserve the building's historic integrity and teach students the value associated with
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traditional building. The Preservation Resource Center has also established a relationship with The Homebuilder's 
Institute and will host a series of work-build days at 1423 North Claiborne Avenue monthly. By acting as a training site, this 
building will not only serve to educate members of New Orleans' building trades in the importance of traditional building, 
but will instill an inherent sense of pride of place for those who work there.
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Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

1423 North Claiborne Avenue is located in the Third district of the city of New Orleans, State of Louisiana, in square no. 
760, bounded by Claiborne Avenue, Esplanade Avenue, Kerlerec, and Derbigny Streets. The lot is designated by the letter 
“A” on a sketch map created by J. A. D’Henecourt, surveyor, dated October 7,1866. According to which said sketch said 
portion of ground measures 46 Feet, 9 inches, and 2 lines front on Claiborne Avenue, the like measurement in the rear by 
127 feet and 11 inches in depth between equal and parallel lines.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

Boundaries follow property lines.
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